#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MARK S. BOUNDS REALTY PARTNERS, INC.

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-TS-00493

MELANIE LAWRENCE

**DEFENDANT/APPELLEE** 

#### AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

# APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MADISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

GREGORY M. JOHNSTON, ATTORNEY AT LAW, P.C. P.O. BOX 1691 MADISON, MS 39130 TELEPHONE: 601-605-8845 FACSIMILE: 601-605-8846

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MARK S. BOUNDS REALTY PARTNERS, INC.

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-TS-00493

MELANIE LAWRENCE

**DEFENDANT/APPELLEE** 

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

#### I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether the Chancellor's Award of Attorney's Fees Is Improper and Should Be Reversed?

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 24, 2008, Defendant's attorney, Kathleen S. Cook of Cosmich, Simmons, & Brown, PLLC, wrote a letter to Plaintiff. (R. at 13). With this letter, Ms. Cook included an unsigned complaint that had been drafted at Ms. Lawrence's request demanding payments in the amount of \$18,500 for a breach of an alleged oral contract between Ms. Lewis and the Company. (R. at 13). The Complaint referenced other damages including "mental anguish and emotional distress." (R. at 13). According to the letter, Ms. Lawrence intended to file the Complaint "within the next week" if the matter was not resolved to her satisfaction. (R. at 13).

In response to the abrupt and hostile communication, Plaintiff reviewed its office files to determine if there was any validity to the claims. During the file review, Plaintiff uncovered a number of improprieties committed by Ms. Lawrence during her employment. Rather than waiting to be sued by Defendant, Plaintiff elected to file a claim in the Chancery Court of Madison County, Mississippi, for causes of action against Defendant which were uncovered during the file review.

Plaintiff filed its Complaint for Declaratory Judgment and Other Relief on July 31, 2008. (R. at 1). On October 14, 2008, Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject-Matter Jurisdiction and For Other Relief. (R. at 19). On December 2, 2008, Plaintiff

filed its Response In Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction and For Other Relief. (R. at 41).

On December 3, 2008, a hearing on Defendant's Motion to Dismiss was held before Chancellor Janace Goree in the Chancery Court of Madison County, Mississippi. (Tr. at 1). At the hearing, the Chancellor granted Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, and also awarded attorneys' fees against Plaintiff in the amount of \$1250. (Tr. at 17-18). An Order on Defendant's Motion to Dismiss was entered on March 3, 2009. Neither at the hearing, nor in the Order, did the Chancellor offer any legal or factual conclusions to explain or justify the award of attorneys' fees against Plaintiff.

Taking issue with the Chancellor's ruling as to the award of attorneys' fees, Plaintiff filed its Notice of Appeal on March 25, 2009. Plaintiff now brings its cause before this Court, respectfully asserting that the Chancellor's award of attorneys' fees was improper and should be reversed.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Defendant, Ms. Lawrence, began working as an administrative assistant for Plaintiff in September of 1997. (R. at 2). In early October 2007, Ms. Lawrence voluntarily quit her employment with Plaintiff to take a job with a real estate auction company in Ridgeland, Mississippi. (R. at 2).

On July 24, 2008, Plaintiff received a letter from attorney Kathleen S. Cook of Cosmich, Simmons, & Brown, PLLC. (R. at 13). With this letter, Ms. Cook attached a draft of a complaint that had been drafted at Ms. Lawrence's request demanding payments in the amount of \$18,500 for a breach of an alleged oral contract between Ms. Lawrence and Plaintiff. (R. at 14). The Complaint referenced other damages including "mental anguish"

and emotional distress." (R. at 14). According to the letter, Ms. Lawrence intended to file the Complaint "within the next week" if the matter was not resolved to her satisfaction. (R. at 13).

In response to this abrupt and hostile communication from Ms. Lawrence's attorney, employees of Plaintiff began reviewing their files related to Ms. Lawrence's employment. (R. at 3). During their file review, employees of the Company discovered a number of improprieties committed by Ms. Lawrence during her employment with Plaintiff.

In light of the improprieties by Ms. Lawrence during the term of her employment, and the looming lawsuit by Ms. Lawrence, Plaintiff herein elected to file suit in the Chancery Court of Madison County, Mississippi. (R. at 3).

After filing suit, Plaintiff hired a process server, Tyler Miller, to serve the Complaint on Ms. Lawrence. (Tr. at 12). Mr. Miller attempted on thirteen (13) separate occasions to serve Defendant with process at her home. (Tr. at 12). Mr. Miller would knock on the door at Defendant's home and her daughter would answer the door, but when Mr. Miller would ask to see Ms. Lawrence, Defendant would refuse to come to the door. (Tr. at 12). Finally, the process server gave the Complaint and summons to Matt Shackelford, the Madison County Constable. Constable Shackelford was able to serve Defendant with the Complaint and summons, but was forced to restrain Defendant with handcuffs after she became belligerent and tried to physically assault him. (Tr. at 13).

Despite the Defendant's refusal to accept process on thirteen (13) different occasions, and her unruly behavior toward a law enforcement officer, it was alleged at the hearing on Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, that Plaintiff was engaging in "bad tactics" and that the Chancellor should award attorneys' fees to deter this. (Tr. at 10). There is no reference in

the records as to why an award of attorneys' fees was warranted, nor on what basis, but the Chancellor nonetheless awarded attorneys' fees to Defendant. Taking issue with this ruling, Plaintiff respectfully appeals to this Court, seeking a reversal of the Chancellor's award of attorneys' fees to Defendant.

#### IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Chancellor below improperly awarded attorneys' fees to Defendant. Plaintiff was faced with an imminent lawsuit and had only three (3) days to respond to the demands of Defendant prior to being sued. During Plaintiff's review, it determined that valid claims existed against Defendant and Plaintiff elected to bring its claims in Chancery Court. While the Chancellor ultimately opined that her Court did not have subject matter jurisdiction, Plaintiff nonetheless did not do anything to warrant the punitive assessment of attorneys' fees against it. Neither the hearing transcript, nor the Order contained any findings from the Chancellor of any wrongdoing by Plaintiff, nor any justification for the award of attorney fees against it. On the contrary, it was undisputed that Defendant refused service of process by a private process server on thirteen (13) occasions, and had to be restrained in handcuffs by the Madison County Constable when he finally served Defendant.

As a result, Plaintiff respectfully asserts that in light of the absence of any stated basis or justification for the award of attorneys' fees, and the absence of any wrongdoing on the part of Plaintiff, the Chancellor's award of attorneys' fees was improper and should be reversed by this Court.

#### V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review: The Chancellor's Decision to Award Attorney's Fees to Defendant is Not Supported By Any Factual or Legal Conclusions and Therefore Requires a *De Novo* Review.

Normally, this Court will not disturb a chancellor's findings if the chancellor's decision is not manifestly wrong and is supported by substantial, credible evidence. *Smith By Young v. Estate of King*, 579 So. 2d 1250 (Miss. 1991). However, in instances where a chancellor fails to make any factual or legal conclusions to support a holding, this Court is left to analyze the chancellor's decision *de novo*. *Industrial Contractors v. Tim Mote Plumbing*, 962 So.2d 632 (Miss.Ct. App. 2007) citing *Facilities, Inc. v. Rogers-Usry Chevrolet, Inc.*, 908 So.2d 107 (Miss. 2005).

B. The Chancellor's Award of Attorneys' Fees Was Improper and Should Be Reversed.

Plaintiff respectfully asserts that the Chancellor's award of attorneys' fees to Defendant was improper as Plaintiff did not engage in any wrongdoing to warrant the punitive sanction of attorneys' fees, and the Chancellor provided no legal or factual conclusions, either during the hearing or in the Order, to support the award of attorneys' fees.

"Attorney's fees can only be awarded pursuant to a relevant contractual provision, statutory authority, or where punitive damages are also proper." *Industrial Contractors*, 908 So.2d at 638 citing *Hearn v. Autumn Woods Office Park Property Owners Ass'n*, 757 So.2d 155, 164 (Miss. 1999). In *White v. Cooke*, 4 So.3d 330, 335 (Miss. 2009), the Supreme Court reversed a chancellor's award of attorney's fees and found that the party against whom the award had been assessed had not acted in bad faith and that the chancellor had abused his discretion.

In the case *sub judice*, there was no basis for the Chancellor to award attorneys' fees against Plaintiff as no contractual provision or statutory authority existed, and there was no reason to punish Plaintiff. As stated above, with less than a week's notice, Plaintiff was forced to take legal action that it deemed necessary to defend itself against Defendant's claims, and advance Plaintiff's claims based upon the wrongdoing of Defendant. Furthermore, Plaintiff did not act in bad faith in attempting to serve Defendant with process. On the contrary, it was Defendant's bad faith refusal of process on thirteen (13) separate occasions, that ultimately placed her in conflict with the constable who was forced to handcuff Defendant in light of her attempts to assault him.

Neither the hearing transcript, nor the Chancellor's Order, contain any factual or legal foundation for awarding \$1250 in attorneys' fees against Plaintiff. This unsupported award unfairly punishes Plaintiff by sanctioning it without the benefit of any explanation or basis for the award. There was no contractual basis or statutory basis for the award of attorney's fees so the only possible basis for awarding attorneys' fees against Plaintiff was on a punitive basis. However, as stated above, Plaintiff did nothing to warrant the punishment of having attorneys' fees levied against it, and the Chancellor provided no findings to justify them.

For these reasons, Plaintiff respectfully submits that the Chancellor's award of attorneys' fees in the amount of \$1250 in favor of Plaintiff was improper and this Court should reverse the same.

#### VI. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

In summary, the Chancellor below improperly awarded attorneys' fees to Defendant.

Plaintiff respectfully asserts that in light of the absence of any stated basis or justification for

the award of attorneys' fees, and the absence of any wrongdoing on the part of Plaintiff, the Chancellor's award of attorneys' fees was improper and should be reversed by this Court.

Respectfully submitted, this the 5th day of October, 2009.

MARK S. BOUNDS REALTY PARTNERS, INC.

Bv:

REGORY MI JOHNSTON, Its Attorney

OF COUNSEL:

Fax: 601-605-8846

GREGORY M. JOHNSTON (MSB GREGORY M. JOHNSTON, ATTORNEY AT LAW, P.C. 732 Magnolia Street Post Office Box 1691 Madison, Mississippi 39110 Phone: 601-605-8845