IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MARK S. BOUNDS REALTY PARTNERS, INC.

VS.

MELANIE LAWRENCE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that justices of the Supreme Court and/or judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Plaintiff/Appellant Mark S. Bounds Realty Partners, Inc.
- 2. Mark S. Bounds
- 3. Defendant/Appellee Melanie Lawrence
- Counsel for Plaintiff/Appellant Gregory M. Johnston Gregory M. Johnston, Attorney at Law, P.C.

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

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Chancery Court did not abuse its discretion in awarding attorneys fees to Melanie Lawrence. Bounds, in his Brief of the Appellant, articulates three reasons why the award of attorneys fees is improper. Each of these are without merit.

Bounds claims that the Chancellor has no authority to make the award absent a statutory authority, contract provision, or justification for punitive damages. However, this claim is erroneous. Courts have statutory authority pursuant to the Litigation Accountability Act to

sanction unnecessary expansion of legal proceedings. Courts, pursuant to rules of Court, have the authority to sanction conduct of litigants and counsel. In fact, Courts are vested with an inherent authority to exact sanctions or penalties, which stands independent of statutes and of promulgated rules. Bounds' brief ignores the Court's authority and mis-applies the law.

Bounds claims second that he committed no wrongdoing to justify an award of attorneys fees, acknowledging the punitive nature of the award. He simply ignores in his brief that he deliberately raced to the wrong courthouse, that he admitted doing so to avoid a jury, and that the manner in which Lawrence was served process is highly suspect according to his own return of service. In his calculated conduct, Bounds simply rolled the dice on the issue of the Court's authority to sanction. He now seeks to avoid the \$1250.00 award of attorneys fees by filing an un-meritorious appeal, the cost of which most likely exceeds the award of the Chancellor for Ms. Lawrence.

Bounds finally and thirdly claims that the Chancellor failed to make findings of fact and conclusions of law, thereby justifying a reversal of the Court's award of attorneys fees. The standard of review for an award of sanctions is abuse of discretion. In a matter lacking significant complexity, the Chancellor is not required to make specific findings absent a request by a party to do so. Having a strong position from which to determine the propriety of her jurisdiction over subject matter, the Chancellor, in fact, did articulate findings related to the Court's jurisdiction, and additional findings of the Chancellor are easily implied or inferred by the evidence, pleadings, and arguments before her. Bounds gives no authority for his assertion that the Chancellor should be reversed for lack of specially stated findings of fact and conclusions of law.

*

. .

i.

i i

Chancellor Goree, in the best position to determine her subject matter jurisdiction, to view the evidence, and to hear the arguments of counsel, and to judge the conduct of her litigants, committed no reversible error. Bounds' relief in taking this appeal should be denied.

V. ARGUMENT

A. A Chancellor's ability to award attorneys fees is abundantly supported by statute, rules of court, and by the court's inherent authority.

The Appellant, Bounds, improperly asserts that no legal authority exists to support an award of attorneys fees. Bounds argues in his brief (page 5) that "[a]ttorneys fees can only be awarded pursuant to relevant contractual provision, statutory authority, or where punitive damages are also proper." *Industrial Contractors v. Tim Mote Plumbing*, 962 So.2d 632, 638 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007), citing *Hearn v. Autumn Woods Office Park Property Owner's Ass'n*, 757 So.2d 155, 164 (Miss. 1999). However, Bounds erroneously relies on a citation which applies to a litigant attempting to recover attorneys fees in an action for breach of contract. *Id.* The cited case does not apply to a court's ability to exact sanctions including attorneys fees based on the conduct of a litigant.

Even if the Appellant's cited case law was properly applicable to this matter, statutory authority for an award of attorneys fees in this case undoubtedly does exist in the form of Mississippi's Litigation Accountability Act.

Miss. Code Ann. § 11-55-5(1), the Litigation Accountability Act provides:

Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, in any civil action commenced or appealed in any court of record in this state, the court shall award, as part of its judgment and in addition to any other costs otherwise assessed, reasonable attorney fees and costs against any party or attorney if the court , upon motion of any party or on its own motion finds that an attorney or party brought an action or asserted any

i.

ī.

claim or defense, that is without substantial justification, or if that action, or any claim or defense asserted, was interposed for delay or harassment, or if it finds an attorney or party <u>unnecessarily expanded the proceedings</u> by other improper conduct including, but not limited to, abuse of discovery procedures available under the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

(emphasis added).

In addition, the Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that "where there is no specific authority for imposing sanctions, courts have an inherent power to protect the integrity of their processes and may impose sanctions in order to do so." *Bill Wyssbrod d/b/a W.W. Companies v. Wittjen et al.*, 798 So.2d 352, 368 (Miss. 2001). "Where a party's intentional misconduct causes the opposing party to expend time and money needlessly, then attorneys fees and expenses should be awarded to the wronged party." *State of Ms. et al. v. Brandon C. Blendon*, 748 So. 2d 77,87 (Miss. 1999). ¹

Melanie Lawrence's Motion To Dismiss Bounds' Chancery matter for lack of subject matter jurisdiction alleged directly that Bounds raced to wrong courthouse and unnecessarily expanded the proceedings. [CP at 6-7] Melanie Lawrence thereby sought attorneys fees pursuant to the Litigation Accountability Act, Miss. Code Ann. § 11-55-5(1), as well as pursuant to the Court's inherent authority to sanction the conduct of its litigants and to award attorneys fees to a party wronged by the unnecessary expense of time and money. *Blendon*, 748 So.2d at 87. Bounds' argument that the Chancellor was without authority to make the award is simply incorrect and without merit.

Similarly, rules of court provide additional authority for courts to award attorneys fees and/or to sanction various undesirable conduct of litigants and/or counsel, including abuses of the discovery process, frivilous pleadings etc...

B. The Chancellor did not abuse her discretion in finding the Appellant had committed an act or acts warranting an award of attorneys fees.

Chancellor Goree was in the best position to determine whether sufficient misconduct existed in order for her enact sanctions against Bounds, whether pursuant to the Litigation Accountability Act or pursuant to the authority inherent in any court of law to enact sanctions for the conduct of litigants.

The hearing transcript from December 2, 2008 reflects acts warranting an award of attorneys fees. Most noteably, Bounds made a strategic decision to file suit in a court without subject matter jurisdiction over the claims asserted. Bounds knew or should have known that the Chancery Court is a court of limited jurisdiction as defined by Mississippi's Constitution and by statute.² Bounds' claims, claims at law, were based in contract and in tort, and clearly did not fall under the umbrella of the Chancery Court's equity jurisdiction. Lawrence did not take issue with the fact that Bounds conducted a "race to the courthouse". She took issue with the fact that Bounds orchestrated a race to the wrong courthouse in order to avail himself of the limited jurisdiction of the Chancery Court and defeat her right to a jury trial. [R at 17] Counsel for Bounds stated at the hearing that his client made a "strategic decision to bring the claims [Bounds] uncovered during his investigation of Ms. Lawrence's employment file before this Court." [R at 14] Counsel for Bounds stated further, "…my client did make a strategic decision to file a Complaint in Chancery Court." [R at 13]

The purpose behind Bounds' strategic decision is clear and unmistakable. In his November 3, 2008 email to Lawrence's Counsel, Bounds' counsel stated, "In lieu of our

²Miss. Code Ann. § 9-5-81; Section 159 of the Constitution of the State of Mississippi

arguing your motion to dismiss, I have a suggestion. My client's primary purpose for filing was to ensure a bench trial in order to keep the litigation costs down as compared to a jury trial. If your client would agree to a bench trial in county court, we will voluntarily dismiss our action in Chancery and file a counterclaim in County." [R at 5] The effect of accepting Bounds' offer on November 3 would have been Lawrence surrendering her right to a jury trial on her own claims as well as those brought against her by Bounds in the amount of \$100,000 (one hundred thousand dollars). [R at 5, 15] Such was the purpose behind Bounds' strategic decision to race to the wrong courthouse. Had Bounds raced to a court of proper subject matter jurisdiction, he would have been stuck with a jury on all of the claims. The Court found Lawrence's argument well taken that Bounds "deliberately and unnecessarily expanded the legal proceedings as a tactical matter, and it has cost [Lawrence] money as far as having to defend in two courts based on the jurisdictional issue." [R at 16-17]

Furthermore, Bounds did not dismiss the Chancery proceedings after becoming aware that his legal position regarding subject matter jurisdiction was unsupported. ³Instead, of dismissing the Chancery Complaint, Bounds proceeded to serve it on Lawrence at the cost of \$489.90, according to the proof of service. [R at 9]

In fact, at the time of Lawrence's service of process, she entered a room in her home to find a strange man, having apparently pushed his way past her minor daughter to enter. Lawrence demanded that the man identify himself and that he leave. [9-10] Instead of serving Lawrence and exiting the home, Shackleford reportedly cuffed Lawrence and proceeded to

Failure to dismiss a claim later learned to be frivilous may be considered an unnecessary expansion of proceedings pursuant to the Litigation Accountability Act, Miss. Code Ann. §11-55-5(1). *Eatman*, 809 So.2d at 597 (citing *In re Fankboner*, 638 So.2d 493, 498 (Miss. 1994).

frighten her and the children for 15 to 20 minutes before stating to Lawrence that he was there to serve her papers. *Id.* Shackleford, according to the proof of service, received \$489.90 to serve Lawrence a copy of the Summons and Complaint. *Id.* The return of service does not indicate any prior attempts to serve Lawrence or any attempts to serve her by anyone other than Shackleford on a single occasion. [R at 9-10, 12-13] Bounds does not deny that Shackleford cuffed and detained Lawrence or that he entered without a warrant. *Id.* Bounds claims that Lawrence evaded service of process 13 times and that Lawrence became belligerent with Shackleford.

The uncontroverted facts are that Bounds never attempted to serve Lawrence at work or by waiver and acknowledgement through mail or by serving her through counsel, though he knew each of those addresses. [CP at 1] Bounds never made any inquiry whether Lawrence's counsel was authorized to accept service of process.

The Chancellor's conclusion that Bounds' conduct warranted an award of attorneys fees is well supported by the record and was a conclusion within her discretion.

.

C. Any failure by the Chancellor to specially articulate findings of fact or conclusions of law does not render her award of attorneys fees in this matter an abuse of discretion.

Judge Goree specifically found that the Chancery Court is a court of limited jurisdiction, that Bounds brought primarily claims at law, and the only equitable claim brought arose from whether or not an oral contract existed between the parties. [R at 17-18] She found that the Defendant, Lawrence's, Motion was well taken and should be granted, ordering \$1,250 (one thousand two hundred fifty dollars) in attorneys fees to Lawrence. Based on the pleadings of Lawrence that Bounds' race to the wrong courthouse unnecessarily

expanded the proceedings and based on the argument and evidence presented by Lawrence's

counsel at hearing, the appellate court can reasonably infer that the Chancellor made

determinations with respect to the award of attorneys fees sufficient to support her ruling.

Eatman, 809 So.2d at 593. Chancellor Goree acted in accordance with Rule 52 of the

Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and Rules 4.01 and 4.02 of the Uniform Chancery Court

Rules. The Mississippi Supreme Court, on the issue of a chancellor's discretion in absence

of specific findings of fact, clearly delineates as follows:

Under this Court's limited scope of review, findings of fact made by a chancellor will not be disturbed if this Court finds substantial evidence supporting these factual findings. Tedford v. Dempsey, 437 So.2d 410, 417 (Miss. 1983) (citing Anderson v. Watkins, 208 So. 2d 573, 575 (Miss. 1968); Culbreath v. Johnson, 427 So. 2d 705. 707-708 (Miss. 1983)). As to issues of fact where no specific findings have been articulated by the chancellor, this Court proceeds upon the "assumption that the chancellor resolved all such fact issues in favor of appellee," Tedford, 437 So.2d at 417; Harris v. Bailey Avenue Park, 202 Miss. 776, 791, 32 So.2d 689, 694 (1947); Cotton v. McConnell, 435 So.2d 683, 685 (Miss. 1983), or as a minimum, in a manner which would be in line with the decree. Tedford, 437 So. 2d at 417. "If there be substantial evidence undergirding such a 'presumed finding', we will not disturb it." Tedford, 437 So. 2d at 417. Additionally, where the chancellor reaches a correct result in accordance with the law and facts, this Court will affirm the result even though "a wrong reason be assigned." Tedford, 437 So.2d at 418; Huffman v. Griffin, 337 So.2d 715, 723 (Miss. 1976).

Love v. Barnett, 611 So.2d 205, 207 (Miss. 1992).

The Chancellor's lack of specially articulated findings related to the award of attorneys fees, if any, is not per se a sufficient basis to warrant reversal, and the Appellant submits no authority otherwise. The record is sufficient to support the Chancellor's ruling in favor of Lawrence. Her discretion to do so should not be disturbed.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Appellant, Bounds, cites no authority sufficient to warrant reversal of Chancellor Goree's award of attorneys fees to Lawrence. Bounds filed a Complaint in a chancery court that he knew or reasonably should have known consisted of claims outside the subject matter jurisdiction of the Court. More importantly, he admittedly took this course of action as a strategic and tactical decision and did so in order to avoid a jury trial on Lawrence's claims and his own claims. Lawrence endured abusive service of process and was required to incur time and expense to defend the jurisdictional issue in two forums.

The Chancery Court has statutory authority pursuant to Mississippi's Litigation Accountability Act as well as inherent authority to award attorneys fees to a party wronged by unnecessary expense in litigation. The record supports the Chancellor's determination to award attorneys fees to Lawrence. Any findings of fact or conclusions of law absent from the Chancellor's Order are easily inferred from the record to support her decision. Bounds offers no authority that the Chancellor should be reversed for any failure to make specifically articulated findings.

Chancery courts are courts of limited jurisdiction. The chancellor is in the best position to determine whether her process or her forum has in any manner been abused and to what extent a sanction may be warranted. Chancellors have broad discretion to make an award of attorneys fees, and the Appellant fails to show any abuse of discretion by Chancellor Goree.